
MINUTES 
CITY OF NORCO 

CITY COUNCIL/COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
REGULAR MEETING 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS – 2820 CLARK AVENUE 
SEPTEMBER 1, 2010 

 
CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Pro Tem Hanna called the meeting to 

order at 7:04 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:  Mayor Malcolm Miller, Present 
   Mayor Pro Tem Berwin Hanna, Present 
   Council Member Kathy Azevedo, Present 
   Council Member Kevin Bash, Present 

  Council Member Harvey C. Sullivan, Present  
 

 Staff Present: Carlson, Cooper, Groves, Jacobs, 
King, Okoro, Oulman and Thompson 

 
   Deputy City Attorney Burns – Present 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Council Member Bash 

 
INVOCATION:    Calvary Chapel – Norco 
        Pastor Louie Montieth 

 
PRESENTATION:    Introduction of Miss Norco and Miss Teen Norco 
Cara McCray, representing the Norco Chamber of Commerce, presented Miss Norco 
Kylie Campbell who then introduced Princess Baylee Curran, Princess Magen 
Lopez, Miss Teen Norco Mari Rocha, Teen Princess Katie Estrella. Teen Princess 
Kelly Smith, Teen Princess Rachel Argandona and Teen Princess Katlyn Plecas.  
 
REGULAR COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY (CRA) AGENDA AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. CRA CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS:  
 
M/S Azevedo/Bash to approve the CRA Consent Calendar items.  The motion was 
carried by the following roll call vote:   
 
AYES: AZEVEDO, BASH, HANNA, MILLER, SULLIVAN 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 
 A. CRA Minutes: 
  Regular Meeting of August 18, 2010 
  Recommended Action:  Approve the CRA Minutes (City Clerk) 
 
2. OTHER CRA MATTERS:  No other CRA matters. 

 
ADJOURNMENT OF CRA:  7:10 p.m. 



City Council/CRA Minutes 
Page 2  
September 1, 2010 
 
 
 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL AGENDA AS FOLLOWS: 
 
3. CITY COUNCIL CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS: 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Hanna (for the public) and Sullivan pulled Items 3.D., 3.E., and 3.F. 
 
M/S Bash/Azevedo to approve the Amended City Council Consent Calendar items.  
The motion was carried by the following roll call vote:   
 
AYES: AZEVEDO, BASH, HANNA, MILLER, SULLIVAN 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 

A. City Council Minutes:  
  Regular Meeting of August 18, 2010 
  Special Meeting of August 23, 2010 
  Recommended Action:  Approve the City Council Minutes (City Clerk) 
 

B. Planning Commission Action Minutes, Regular Meeting of August 25, 2010. 
Recommended Action: Receive and File (Planning Director) 

 
C. Procedural Step to Approve Ordinance after Reading of Title Only. 

Recommended Action: Approval (City Clerk) 
 

D. Ordinance No. 924, Second Reading.  Zone Code Amendment 2010-01 
(City): A Proposed Ordinance to Amend Title 18 (Zoning) of the Norco 
Municipal Code to Regulate the Size, Height, and Approval Process of 
Accessory Structures Allowed in Agricultural-Residential Zones.  
Recommended Action:  Adopt Ordinance No. 924 for Second Reading. 
(City Clerk) PULLED FOR COUNCIL DISCUSSION 

 
E. Ordinance No. 925, Second Reading.  Specific Plan 91-02, Amendment 5 

(City): A proposed Ordinance to Amend the Norco Hills Specific Plan to 
Regulate the Height and Approval Process of Accessory Structures Allowed 
in the Equestrian Residential District.  Recommended Action:  Adopt 
Ordinance No. 925 for Second Reading. (City Clerk) PULLED FOR 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION 

 
F. Ordinance No. 926, Second Reading.  Specific Plan 99-01, Amendment 4 

(City): A Proposed Ordinance to Amend the Norco Ridge Ranch Specific 
Plan to Regulate the Height and Approval Process of Accessory Structures 
Allowed in the Equestrian Residential District. Recommended Action:  
Adopt Ordinance No. 926 for Second Reading. (City Clerk) PULLED FOR 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION 

 



City Council/CRA Minutes 
Page 3  
September 1, 2010 
 
 

G. Second Amendment to the Agreement for Law Enforcement Services 
Eliminating the Front Office Community Service Officer Position.  
Recommended Action:  Authorize the Mayor to sign the Amendment to 
the Agreement. (Lt. Cooper) 

 
H. Request for Use of the City Seal.  Recommended Action:  Approve the 

request to use the City Seal on a joint-letter of invitation to Navy 
personnel, as well as on programs and signage, for a December 7 
remembrance event hosted by the Lake Norconian Club Foundation. 
(City Manager) 

 
4. ITEMS PULLED FROM CITY COUNCIL CONSENT CALENDAR: 
 
Deputy City Attorney Burns stated the following: 
 

“It is our recommendation that the Council take public comment on the 
accessory structure ordinances during the public comment portion of the 
meeting. That is because the Council has already held a public hearing on 
this item during which a substantial amount of evidence was taken. The 
Council then closed the public hearing. Because the public hearing was 
closed at the last meeting, the public will expect that the Council has taken 
all of the evidence it is going to consider on this item and that the Council 
will not take new evidence.” 

 
Council Member Sullivan commented on the public comments taken at the August 18th 
Council Meeting and noted the number of votes in favor and against the ordinances.  He 
also commented on the petition submitted which had 376 signed signatures asking for a 
no vote.  He noted the Council comments made during that meeting and stated that he 
hoped that the Council Members would reconsider their votes.  He further noted his desire 
to continue the existing moratorium and address the accessory structure issue and not 
animal keeping rights, which he believes would open ourselves up to litigation.  
 
Council Member Azevedo commented on the petition submitted at the August 18th 
Council meeting and added that she received comments from persons wishing to remove 
their names from the petition.  She stated that the Council makes decisions that are best 
for the majority of the residents in the City.  She further stated that, in her mind, this is an 
animal keeping issue and the reason for these ordinances is only because people have 
abused the system.  Council Member Azevedo stated that she is still in full support of the 
three ordinances. 
 
Council Member Bash stated that he also received calls from persons who signed the 
petitions and wished to remove their names.  He noted that his comments at the August 
18th meeting regarding his properties were provided as an example to the obvious and did 
not believe there was an ethical problem in making those comments. 
 
Mayor Miller thanked Mayor Pro Tem Hanna for filling in for him.  He noted that he took 
issue with Council Member Sullivan for his misrepresentation and also noted that you don’t 



City Council/CRA Minutes 
Page 4  
September 1, 2010 
 
 
make deductions on opinion polls, as there is a proper petition process that needs to be 
followed.  He commented on the lengthy process the ordinances went through, with a 
number of variations considered.  Present conditions, his property will satisfy.  Make 
deductions on opinion polls and he takes exception for that.  Mayor Miller stated that he 
personally believes that the ordinances serve the purpose for which they were written and 
added that a lot of hard work went into them and believes it is as good as it is going to get 
at this point. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Hanna stated that this matter does affect the animal keeping lifestyle and 
noted that it is important to protect the future of Horsetown USA.  He commented on the 
petition received and noted that there are currently 11,416 registered voters in the City of 
Norco and a petition submitted would need to have 1,142 signatures from registered 
voters in order for the ordinances to be required to be re-considered by the Council.   
 
Council Member Sullivan commented on statements made by the Council and noted that 
some were unethical.  He stated that the Council should have acknowledged the petition 
submitted and added that he thinks the Council ignored the people in the Norco hills. 
 
Discussion was held regarding Ordinance No. 924, Section 18.13.20 (c) regarding the 
contiguous open animal area on lots one acre or less.  Council Member Sullivan stated 
that he would have liked to see an added definition for lots over one acre. Planning 
Director King noted that the only restriction is placed on one acre or less for this purpose.  
 

3.D. Ordinance No. 924, Second Reading.  Zone Code Amendment 2010-01 
(City): A Proposed Ordinance to Amend Title 18 (Zoning) of the Norco 
Municipal Code to Regulate the Size, Height, and Approval Process of 
Accessory Structures Allowed in Agricultural-Residential Zones.  
Recommended Action:  Adopt Ordinance No. 924 for Second Reading. 
(City Clerk) 

 
M/S Miller/Bash to adopt Ordinance No. 924 for Second Reading.  The motion was 
carried by the following roll call vote:   
 
AYES: AZEVEDO, BASH, HANNA, MILLER 
NOES: SULLIVAN 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 



City Council/CRA Minutes 
Page 5  
September 1, 2010 
 
 
 

3.E. Ordinance No. 925, Second Reading.  Specific Plan 91-02, Amendment 5 
(City): A proposed Ordinance to Amend the Norco Hills Specific Plan to 
Regulate the Height and Approval Process of Accessory Structures Allowed 
in the Equestrian Residential District.  Recommended Action:  Adopt 
Ordinance No. 925 for Second Reading. (City Clerk) 

 
M/S Azevedo/Bash to adopt Ordinance No. 925 for Second Reading.  The motion 
was carried by the following roll call vote:   
 
AYES: AZEVEDO, BASH, HANNA, MILLER 
NOES: SULLIVAN 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 

3.F. Ordinance No. 926, Second Reading.  Specific Plan 99-01, Amendment 4 
(City): A Proposed Ordinance to Amend the Norco Ridge Ranch Specific 
Plan to Regulate the Height and Approval Process of Accessory Structures 
Allowed in the Equestrian Residential District. Recommended Action:  
Adopt Ordinance No. 926 for Second Reading. (City Clerk) 

 
M/S Azevedo/Bash to adopt Ordinance No. 926 for Second Reading.  The motion 
was carried by the following roll call vote:   
 
AYES: AZEVEDO, BASH, HANNA, MILLER 
NOES: SULLIVAN 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 
5.  CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING: 
 
 A. City-Initiated Proposal to Add Chapter 5.50 “Employment of Undocumented 

Workers“to the Norco Municipal Code (Code Change 2010-04) 
 
  A proposed ordinance has been drafted based on the City Council’s 

recommendation on August 4, 2010.  The draft ordinance proposes adding 
Chapter 5.50 “Employment of Undocumented Workers” to the Norco 
Municipal Code and effectively defines the E-Verify requirements for all City 
contractors and their sub-contractors, and all City businesses and their sub-
contractors.  The proposed ordinance, if passed, would apply to all City 
contracts awarded after January 1, 2011. 

 
Recommended Action:  Adopt Ordinance No. _____ for first reading. 
(City Manager) 

 
City Manager Groves stated that at its August 4, 2010 meeting, the Council voted to have 
an ordinance drafted that includes E-Verify requirements for all City employees, City 



City Council/CRA Minutes 
Page 6  
September 1, 2010 
 
 
contractors and their sub-contractors, and all City businesses and their sub-contractors.  
She noted that the proposed ordinance before the Council does just that and requires that 
an Affidavit of Compliance with the Norco Municipal Code “E-Verify” be completed.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Hanna OPENED the public hearing, indicating that proper 
notification had been made and asked for the appearance of those wishing to speak.  
 
Karen Leonard.  Ms. Leonard stated concerns regarding the enforcement of the 
ordinance.  .   
 
Curtis Coombs.  Mr. Coombs stated that as a business owner in the community, he 
supported the ordinance as it encourages businesses that follow the rules.   
 
Kaye O’Mara.  Ms. O’Mara encouraged the Council to pass this ordinance as the City has 
an opportunity to participate in maintaining the rule of law for our Country.   
 
Wendie Stevens-Rodriquez.  Ms. Stevens-Rodriquez spoke in favor of this ordinance.   
 
Julie Waltz.  Ms. Waltz encouraged the Council to pass the ordinance.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Hanna CLOSED the public hearing.  
 
Mayor Miller complemented staff on a well written report and ordinance and is fully in 
support of this. 
 
Council Member Bash stated that he supports the ordinance. 
 
Council Member Azevedo stated that she supports the ordinance. 
 
M/S Sullivan/Miller to adopt Ordinance No. 927 for First Reading.  The motion was 
carried by the following roll call vote:   
 
AYES: AZEVEDO, BASH, HANNA, MILLER, SULLIVAN 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 
6. PUBLIC COMMENTS OR QUESTIONS: 
 
Dave Henderson.  Mr. Henderson commented on the improvements on Sierra Avenue.  
He also commented on traffic calming measures and added that speed humps can be an 
effective way to control the speed of traffic without damaging vehicles and trailers.   
 
Pat Overstreet.  Ms. Overstreet noted that she is not impressed with a petition of 300 
signatures.  She further commented on the animal-keeping issues discussed at the 
previous Council meeting and noted that this is a real estate issue.  Ms. Overstreet stated 
that the Charter is in place to preserve Horsetown USA. 



City Council/CRA Minutes 
Page 7  
September 1, 2010 
 
 
 
Larry Palmer.  Mr. Palmer stated that he keeps hearing a phrase about this not being an 
animal-keeping issue and noted that this is Horsetown USA.  He commented on the City 
being pulled apart by this issue. 
 
Pamela Smith.  Ms. Smith thanked everyone that came to the 11th annual cook off and 
noted that it was the most successful to date with over 200 attendees.   
 
John Box.  Mr. Box stated that he was hoping to speak on the ordinances when they were 
discussed on the agenda. He noted that he submitted a letter stating violations under the 
Brown Act and expects a response in 30 days.  He stated that the greater issue is the 
division of the community and commented on the signatures he received on the petition 
and that he polled the community and felt they were honest.  He further stated that the 
goal has always been to preserve animal-keeping and added that the “Norco hills” people 
believe that the process has been violated.   
 
Vern Showalter.  Mr. Showalter stated that he removes signs in the community in 
violation and noted that if they do not have a date on them or if they are in the public right-
of-way, they are history.   
 
Jodie Webber.  Ms. Webber stated disfavor on the decision to disallow the public and 
noted the language on the agenda on the Consent Calendar.  She noted the comments 
made regarding the division in Norco and stated that the specific plans divided the City.  
She added that the City has already dictated that the persons living in the specific plan 
areas are treated differently.   
 
Bill Kohl.  Mr. Kohl stated disfavor on the process that was followed in the adoption of the 
ordinances.  He commented on the different versions of the ordinances and noted that a 
public process should be followed when changes are made. 
 
Karen Leonard.  Ms. Leonard commented on the petition and noted that it was invalid.  
She also invited everyone to attend the upcoming Fair. 
 
Alan Smith.  Mr. Smith commented on the traffic issues and dangers surrounding Norco 
Elementary School and asked that this be addressed. 
 
Kathy Thistlethwaite.  Ms. Thistlethwaite commented on the traffic safety issues at Norco 
Elementary.  She also commented on the water bill, which is due by Sunday September 
5th and noted that this is a long weekend with Labor Day on Monday and City Hall is not 
open.  She added that she is concerned about the payments that are placed in the outside 
drop box. 
 
Bobbie Pope.  Ms. Pope commented on the arundo project and noted that it started 
today.  She added that the plan will improve our trails and noted that signs will be placed 
to let the riders know what trails are open and/or closed.   
 



City Council/CRA Minutes 
Page 8  
September 1, 2010 
 
 
Doug Roberts.  Mr. Roberts stated that a group of volunteers who are concerned about 
the trails produced a map of the trails and presented it to the City.  He noted that 100 man 
hours of survey work went into this project and added that it should be extremely accurate.   
 
Robert Swindell.  Mr. Swindell presented a document for the record addressing Council 
Member Azevedo’s statements at the August 18th meeting regarding accessory structures.  
He stated his disfavor on what the Council approved and noted that this was a reduction of 
property rights.  He added that he is trying to look out for the rights of fellow Norconians. 
 
Kay O’Mara.  Ms. O’Mara commented on the division in the City and noted that we do not 
want the rural atmosphere of Norco to disappear.   
 
Julie Waltz.  Ms. Waltz commented on divisions in Horsetown USA and noted that the 
Council should not ignore petitions.  
 
Denise Shoemaker.  Ms. Shoemaker thanked the Council for passing the ordinances.  
She encouraged everyone to attend the first annual Norco Fair this weekend and added 
that over 90 vendors would be participating. 
 
Donna Miller.  Ms. Miller commented on the ordinances and wondered how they affect 
the “Norco hills” people.   
 
Greg Newton.  Mr. Newton commented on the Home and Land Realty “thank you” sent to 
the City and stated that these are the things we need to be working on.  He commented on 
the email he received from the Norco Hills News inviting residents to attend the Council 
meeting to voice displeasure and noted his displeasure over this e-mail.   
 
Michael Harris.  Mr. Harris commented on his disappointment for no public comments 
allowed when the ordinances were considered on the agenda.  He also asked about the 
financial condition of the City and how the deficit was being met. 
 
Danny Azevedo.  Mr. Azevedo commented as a citizen of Norco and asked for respect 
from one of the Councilmen.  He also commented on the petitions and the use of them in 
the voting process.  He further commented on the purpose of the PAKAs.   
 
Su Bacon.  Ms. Bacon commented on how miscommunication can cause problems 
throughout a community noting the months leading up to the upcoming Fair run by a 
citizens group.  She noted that this is the same thing with the ordinances and now is a 
perfect time to come together for a Norco united.     
 



City Council/CRA Minutes 
Page 9  
September 1, 2010 
 
 
7. OTHER MATTERS – COUNCIL: 
 
Council Member Bash: 

 Commented on the traffic safety problems at the schools and submitted a motion 
that this item be placed on an agenda for discussion. Council Member Sullivan 
seconded that motion.  Under discussion, Council Member Azevedo stated that she 
planned to ask for an update on that item tonight.  Public Works Director Thompson 
stated that he met today with representatives from the Corona-Norco Unified 
School District Facilities Management Department at which time they discussed 
Norco Elementary specifically.  He noted that they have some ideas and will 
implement them between now and the Holiday break at which time the District will 
get back to the City.  City Manager Groves asked for clarification on this item.  
Council Member Bash requested staff updates in lieu of placing this on the agenda 
and withdrew his motion. 

 Stated that he has concerns with the City’s current Code Compliance Policy and 
submitted a motion to place this item on the next agenda for discussion.  He added 
that he is concerned about the code compliance issues in residential and 
commercial areas and noted the problems occurring because of how the complaint 
is required to be received.  City Manager Groves commented on code enforcement 
resources available and noted that the City has only one part-time officer.  Council 
Member Bash stated that he would like to know what we have in the current policy 
and where we can go from here.   

 
M/S Bash/Azevedo to place an item on the next agenda regarding the City’s Code 
Compliance Policy.  The motion was carried by the following roll call vote:   
 
AYES: AZEVEDO, BASH, HANNA, MILLER, SULLIVAN 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 

 
Council Member Azevedo: 

 Noted that there are 94 participants in the Talent Show at the upcoming Fair. 
 
Council Member Sullivan: 

 Reflected on the meeting and stated disfavor in his character being questioned.  He 
noted that he will be canceling his City e-mail and will be happy to have discussions 
with anyone on his cell phone.  He added that he does not want to provide a 
platform to slam him.  He further commented on the process of the approval of the 
ordinances and added that the City needs to unite.   

 
8.  OTHER MATTERS – STAFF:   No staff items to report. 

 



City Council/CRA Minutes 
Page 10  
September 1, 2010 
 
 
9. ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business to come before the City 

Council, Mayor Pro Tem Hanna adjourned the meeting at 9:08 p.m. 
 
 

________________________________ 
BRENDA K. JACOBS 

CITY CLERK 
 
/bj-76477 
 
 


